OCT 29 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,058

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

BRIAN LEWIS,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANGELICA D. ZAYAS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0822256
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the prosecution and Respondent was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. Petitioner was the appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Third District. Respondent was the appellant in the Third District.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"SR" Supplemental Record on Appeal

"T" Transcript

"ST" Supplemental Transcript

"App." Appendix to Petitioner's Brief on the Merits

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 17, 1990, Respondent, Brian Lewis, was charged with trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to traffic in cocaine. (R. 1-2). Respondent moved for dismissal on March 21, 1991, arguing that his due process rights had been violated by the actions of the Miami Beach Police Department and its confidential informant, "Juan Carlos." (R. 127-143). A hearing on the matter was held on April 1, 1991, and the motion was denied. (T. 1-124).

the hearing on the motion to dismiss, Respondent testified that he met "Juan Carlos" at a bar or nightclub on Sunday, July 22, 1990. (T. 10-14). Respondent spent the evening drinking with "Juan Carlos" and two unidentified ladies, visiting two other nightclubs and eventually going home together to Respondent's apartment. (T. 16-24). During the course of the evening, "Juan Carlos" allegedly told Respondent that he had his own business and referred to drugs and the great deal of money to be made in the business. (T. 22, 27). Respondent spent the next day running errands and when he returned home, there were numerous messages from "Juan Carlos." (T. 29-31).Respondent returned these phone calls, "Juan Carlos" Respondent that he could make money simply by introducing "Juan Carlos" to somebody who might be interested in purchasing cocaine. (T. 32-33). When he returned to work on Tuesday,

Respondent discussed his weekend activities with a co-worker, Eugene Marzullo. (T. 35-37). Marzullo seemed interested in the subject, so when "Juan Carlos" called about setting up a deal, Respondent told him that he knew somebody who would be interested if the price were right. (T. 38-44).On Tuesday evening, Respondent and "Juan Carlos" discussed a tentative meeting of all interested parties. (T. 44-45). "Juan Carlos" and Respondent agreed to meet on Miami Beach on Wednesday to introduce Respondent to the supplier. (T. 45-46). At that time, "Juan Carlos" introduced Respondent to "his cousin," Detective Palaez, who was working undercover. (T. 46). At the meeting, Respondent discussed the price of a kilogram of cocaine, took a sample of cocaine for Marzullo and tasted a sample of the cocaine himself. (T. 46-47). On Thursday, the parties negotiated the price over the phone and agreed to meet on Friday to consummate the deal. (T. 53).

Detective Jeff Palaez testified that he first met the confidential informant, "Juan Carlos," in 1989 when he arrested the informant for trafficking in cocaine. (T. 76, 80). "Juan Carlos" was first documented as a confidential informant on August 30, 1989. (T. 80). At that time, "Juan Carlos" entered a substantial assistance agreement with the State. (T. 80). During the instant case, "Juan Carlos" was not performing under this agreement, having previously satisfied his obligation under the agreement. (T. 82, 105). Detective Palaez testified that

"Juan Carlos" was working purely for monetary reasons and that payment was not contingent upon trial participation. (T. 105). In fact, "Juan Carlos" was paid upon the completion of the police Investigation. (T. 105). Accordingly, at the time of the hearing, "Juan Carlos" had been paid two thousand dollars for his participation in the instant case. (T. 82, 91). Palaez testified that payment to informants is "based on numerous factors, those factors include but are not limited to the danger involved in the investigation, the amount of time the CI spends on this investigation, the number of subjects arrested, the amount of property seized, things of that nature.... " (T. 92-"Juan Carlos" would not have been paid anything if his efforts had not resulted in an arrest. (T. 95). Detective Palaez didn't have any contact with "Juan Carlos" on Sunday, July 22, 1990, he did speak with "Juan Carlos" on Monday, July 23, 1990, and Tuesday, July 24, 1990. (T. 101-102). Detective Palaez met with "Juan Carlos" and Respondent on Wednesday, July 25, 1990, and Friday, July 27, 1990. (T. 102). Detective Palaez could not remember if he spent time with "Juan Carlos" on Thursday, July 26, 1990, but he did speak with "Juan Carlos every day since initial contact on Monday. (T. 102, From the moment that "Juan Carlos" contacted Detective Palaez, Detective Palaez told "Juan Carlos" what to say and do and monitored all communication between Respondent and the informant. (T. 106).

Detective Palaez further testified that he met with Respondent on July 25, 1990, and handed him a kilogram of cocaine. (T. 106-107). Respondent looked at the package and removed approximately one gram from the package and "sniffed" the cocaine. (T. 108).

Following presentation of evidence and argument by counsel, the trial court found that the key element of the cases cited by Respondent in his motion to dismiss was the fact that the payment to the informants was contingent upon trial testimony. (T. 121). The trial court also found that "Juan Carlos" was not a vital or essential witness for the prosecution. (T. 122-123). On April 2, 1991, Respondent entered a plea of no contest to trafficking in cocaine, reserving his right to appeal the motion to dismiss. (ST. 8-9). In return, the state dropped the conspiracy charge and reduced the 15 year minimum mandatory sentence to five years. (ST. 8-9). The \$250,000 fine was also reduced to \$400.00 (ST. 9).

On appeal, Respondent argued that he had been "randomly picked out by a police informant who was paid a contingent fee that was determined, in part, upon the amount of property that would be seized" as a result of his arrest and that he had been objectively entrapped because "the police activity in this case did not have as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity." (App. 1). In support of his first claim,

Respondent relied on State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). (App. 1, p. 9-18). In support of his claim that he had been objectively entrapped, Respondent acknowledged the existence of §777.201 of the Florida Statutes and recognized that the Third District had "taken the position that the legislature has abolished objective entrapment by enacting the subjective entrapment statute. (App. 1, p. 19). Respondent nonetheless maintained that Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla.), cert. denied 473 U.S. 9056, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1955), was controlling. (App. 1, p. 19).

Petitioner responded to these claims by arguing that Respondent's due process rights were not violated because payment to the informant was not contingent on the informants testifying at trial. (App. 2, p. 8-14). Petitioner also argued that the issue of entrapment was to be decided by the trier of fact pursuant to §777.201 of the Florida Statutes. (App. 2, p. 15).

The Third District Court of Appeal rejected Respondent's Glosson claims, but found that Respondent had been objectively entrapped as a matter of law. (App. 3, p. 43-5). In so doing, Chief Judge Schwartz noted in a specially concurring opinion that the district court was obligated to apply the objective entrapment test to the facts presented in the instant case, despite the mandate of §777.201 that the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact, because of this Court's decision in

State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), applying the objective entrapment test to the facts presented in <u>Hunter</u>. (App. 3, p. 6-13).

In a motion for rehearing and motion for rehearing en banc, filed in the district court, Petitioner argued that the appellate court's reliance on State v. Hunter was misplaced inasmuch as the crimes in Hunter were committed prior to the enactment of \$777.201 of the Florida Statutes. (App. 4, p. 3). Rehearing and rehearing en banc were denied on June 9, 1992. (App. 5).

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 777.201, the companion jury instruction, and the House and Senate Staff analysis clearly evidences the legislature's intent to abolish the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test and have the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact. The application of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapmenet test by this Court in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), did not "revive" the objective entrapment test since the crimes in <u>Hunter</u> were committed long before the effective date of §777.201.

In the absence of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test, defendants may assert a constitutional due process claim which establishes outrageous government involvement in the charged crimes. <u>See e.g. State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985). Although the <u>Cruz</u> objective is based in part upon due process considerations, the <u>Cruz</u> test is not constitutionally mandated. The rights protected by <u>Cruz</u> may be protected by due process claims similar to those presented in Glosson.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the objective entrapment test was not abolished by §777.201, Petitioner respectfully requests that the matter be remanded for consideration of this test by the trial court, which expressly declined to reach the merits of Respondent's objective entrapment claim in light of §777.201 and the apparent abolishment of the

objective entrapment test. If the matter is to be decided by this Honorable Court, Petitioner respectfully requests an opportunity to supplement the record with transcripts of the <u>in camera</u> meeting between the trial judge and the confidential informant and other evidence considered by the trial court.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) ABROGATES THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE, 465 So.2d 516 (FLA.), CERT. DENIED, 473 U.S. 905 (1985).

ARGUMENT

SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) ABROGATES THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE, 465 So.2d 516 (FLA. 1985), CERT. DENIED, 473 U.S. 905 (1985).

A. Section 777.201, Fla. Stat. (1987) Abolishes the Cruz Objective Entrapment Test.

Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987) provides:

- (1) A law enforcement officer, a person engaged in cooperation with a law enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer perpetuates an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as a direct result, causes another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.
- (2) A person prosecuted for a crime shall be acquitted if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment. The issue of entrapment shall be tried by the trier of fact.

This section was enacted by the Florida Legislature in 1987 and went into effect on October 1, 1987. Ch. 87.243, §§42, 43 Laws of Florida.

Before §777.201 was enacted, the judicially created defense of entrapment consisted of two independent, coexisting elements. The "traditional" or "subjective" standard defined entrapment as

"law enforcement conduct which implants in the mind of an innocent person the disposition to commit the alleged crime, and hence induces its commission." Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516, 521 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985); Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). The "objective" standard for assessing entrapment recognized that "when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits a conviction, the predisposition of the defendant becomes irrelevant." Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d at 521; Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d at 1349.

Under the standards set forth in Cruz, a defendant had the burden only of adducing evidence of entrapment, and once the trial court determined that the evidence was sufficient, the burden shifted to the state to disprove entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(1) (1985) ("On the issue of entrapment, the State must convince you beyond reasonable doubt that the defendant The threshold objective test required the state to entrapped."). establish initially whether the police activity had as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity and utilized means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity there was no entrapment as a matter of law. Cruz, 465 So.2d at 521-522. If the State established the validity of the police activity and demonstrated that the police had "cast their nets in permissible waters, the subjective

test remained. However, the answer to whether the accused was an innocent person induced by government officials to commit the crime fell within the province of the jury. Cruz, 465 So.2d at 521. Following the 1987 enactment of §777.201, a new standard jury instruction issued, placing the burden wholly on the defendant to show by a preponderance of the evidence that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(2) (1987).

Following the enactment of §777.201, the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal ruled that §777.201 abolished the objective entrapment test by mandating that the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact. Krajewski v. State, 587 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA), quashed on other grounds, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991); Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Gonzalez v. State, 525 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Lopez, 522 So.2d 537 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The Third

¹ In Herrera v. State, 17 F.L.W. S84 (Fla. February 6, 1992), this Court was asked to consider whether §777.201(2) of the Florida Statutes and Instruction 3.04(c)(2) of the Florida Jury Instructions in Criminal unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof defendant to prove entrapment. In Herrera, this Court ruled that both the statute and the instruction shifted only the burden of persuasion of an affirmative defense rather than burden of proving the elements of the crime and the defendant's guilt. 17 F.L.W. at S84. Although this Court did not address the viability of the Cruz objective test directly, this Court noted that §777.201(2) "evidences the legislature's intent that the defendant should prove entrapment instead of requiring the State to disprove it" and found that there was "no violation of due process in requiring the defendants to bear the burden of persuading their juries that they were entrapped." 17 F.L.W. at S87-85.

District found support for its conclusion in the House of Representative's Committee on Criminal Justice Staff Analysis, June 22, 1987, which stated: "This section overrules the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985), which held that the objective test of whether law enforcement conduct was impermissible was in the discretion of the trial court." Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1349. See also Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement on Crime Prevention, Bill No. CS/HB 1467 (May 22, 1987)(this section "[c]larifies that entrapment is an affirmative defense that would be available to a defendant who established to the trier of fact by a preponderance of the evidence that he was not predisposed to commit the offense now charged.").

Evaluating the viability of the Cruz objective test in light of §777.201, the Gonzalez court noted:

Subsection (1) of the entrapment statute appears, at first reading, to focus on the conduct of the police by providing that an entrapment has occurred if the police conduct creates a "substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one ready to commit it." However, subsection makes that (2) it clear defendant will be acquitted on the basis of entrapment only if he can prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment." The sole statutory test for entrapment is, therefore, the subjective test of whether the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime, or as the statute provides, whether the defendant was a person who was "ready to commit the crime." Subsection (1) appears to prevent a defendant from taking advantage of "coincidental improper police conduct." State v. Rockholt, 96 N.J. 570,
______, 476 A.2d 1236, 1241 (construing an entrapment statute similar to Florida's).

Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1349-50 n. 3 (emphasis in original).

The Fourth District in <u>Krajewski</u> joined the Third District in concluding that section 777.201 abolished the <u>Cruz</u> test, remarking:

We align this court with the view expressed by the Third District in Gonzalez. We are persuaded to this view not only by the reasoning of that opinion but also by the language of the new statutes. Critical to our analysis and interpretation is the use by the legislature of the term "cause." The objective test is not concerned with cause and effect. It examines only the action of law enforcement or its agencies, and whether that action is permissible rather than "outrageous." On the other hand, the statute is concerned with whether law enforcement activity causes a person to commit a crime. This is entirely a subjective matter.

587 So.2d at 1178 (emphasis in original).

In <u>Strickland v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 269, 270-271, (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), however, the Fourth District reversed the position it took in <u>Krajewski</u> for two reasons: (1) that this Court indicated that <u>Cruz</u> was alive and well in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991); and (2) this Court held the objective entrapment aspects of <u>Cruz</u> are predicated on constitutional due process concerns which cannot be superceded by statutory enactments.²

Following this Court's decision in Hunter, both the Third and Fourth Districts have receded from this position. Lewis v. State, 17 F.L.W. ___ (Fla. 3d DCA March 24, 1992);

The Third District Court in the instant case also receded from its decision in <u>Gonzalez</u>, relying on the application of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test to the facts of <u>Hunter</u>. (App. 3, p. 4).

Ricardo v. State, 591 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Strickland v. State, 588 So.2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The First District has aligned itself with the Third District's position in Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1346, notwithstanding this Court's opinion in Hunter. State v. 1346, Pham, 17 F.L.W. D271 (Fla. 1st DCA January 17, 1992); Simmons v. State, 590 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Pending before this court, Case No. 75,287); Munoz v. State, 586 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(Pending before this court Case No. 78,900). The Second District has consistently held that the Cruz objective test remained viable despite the passage of §777.201. <u>See e.g.</u> Beattie v. State, 17 F.L.W. D657 (Fla. 2d DCA March 6, 1992); Morales v. State, 17 F.L.W. D661 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Wilson v. State, 589 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Bowser v. State, 555 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Although the Fifth District has continued to apply the Cruz objective test, it has not yet addressed the effect of §777.201 on the objective entrapment test. See e.g. Smith v. State, 575 So.2d 776 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); State v. Purvis, 560 So.2d 1296 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

The Third District also relied on this Court's decision in State v. Krajewski, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991). reliance is similarly misplaced. When presented with the issue of objective entrapment in Krajewski, the Fourth District Court of Appeal agreed with prior Third District Court rulings and held that the defense of objective entrapment had been abolished by §777.201. Krajewski v. State, 587 So.2d 1175, 1177-78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). finding that the objective entrapment defense had been abolished by §777.201, the Fourth District addressed State v. Glosson and due process criteria and found that Krajewski's due process rights had been violated. 587 So.2d at 1183-84. The Fourth District then certified to the Supreme Court the limited question of whether the facts of Krajewski violated State v. Glosson. 587 So.2d at 1184. The Supreme Court answered the certified question in the negative, indicating that there was no due process or Glosson violation. 589 So.2d at 255. The Supreme Court in Krajewski did not address Cruz v. State, $\bar{4}65$ So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985), or the issue of objective entrapment because the certified question dealt solely with Glosson and due process considerations. 589 So.2d at 254.

3

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