IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

vs.

۹.

:

BRIAN LEWIS,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 80,058

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KENNETH RONAN, ESQ.

2600 N. Military Trail Fourth Floor, Fountain Square P.O. Box 3004 Boca Raton, Florida 33431 Florida Bar No. 339938 Attorney for Respondent JONI B. BRAUNSTEIN, ESQ. 3000 Island Blvd. Suite 1504 N. Miami Beach, Fl 33160 Florida Bar No. 0509957 Attorney for Respondent

SID J. WHITE DEC 17 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Despite the enactment of Section 777.201 Fl.Stat. (1987), this Court's opinion in State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991) reflects this Court's intention to uphold the dictates of Cruz. Respondent maintains that, despite this Court's failure to address the statute in its <u>Hunter</u> opinion, and despite Petitioner's argument that Section 777.201(2) abrogates Cruz, this Court correctly concluded that the judicially created Cruz objective entrapment test remains valid and viable in Florida, having its foundation in Florida's due process clause, and should be construed to be coextensive with, or to invalidate, the legislatively enacted subjective entrapment statute at issue herein. As Cruz "parallels" federal due process claims, and has been determined by this Court in <u>Hunter</u> to include due process considerations, the statute cannot be deemed to override Cruz. Constitutional due superceded process considerations cannot be by statutory If the effect of Section 777.201 is to eliminate a enactments. defense based on constitutional due process, then the statute must be deemed unconstitutional.

Further, there are simply no grounds for this Court to grant Petitioner's request to revisit the issue of objective entrapment by remanding this cause to the lower court, as <u>Cruz</u> was properly argued in both the trial court and Third District Court of Appeal, whose ruling that both prongs of <u>Cruz</u> had been violated is now the law of the case. Only if this Court finds that <u>Cruz</u> has been statutorily abolished, contrary to Respondent's position herein,

should this cause be remanded, with leave for Respondent to withdraw his nolo contendere plea, as such a ruling by this Court would abrogate the premise upon which Respondent entered his plea, thereby rendering it involuntary. In that case, Respondent, having a valid defense of subjective entrapment, should be given the option to withdraw his plea and submit the entrapment issue to the trier of fact at trial.

## **ARGUMENT**

THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE, 465 SO.2D 516 (FLA. 1985), CERT. DENIED, 473 U.S. 905 (1985), HAS NOT BEEN ABOLISHED BY THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987).

Prior to this Court's decision in State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319, (Fla. 1991), the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal had taken the position that the enactment of Section 777.201, Florida Statutes, (1987) had abolished the objective entrapment defense set forth in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 516, (Fla. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985), by mandating that the entrapment issue be determined by the trier of fact. Krajewski v. State, 587 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA), guashed on other grounds, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991); Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990); Gonzalez v. State, 525 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988); State v. Lopez, 522 So.2d 537 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988). The First District, despite Hunter, continues to align itself with the position enunciated in <u>Gonzalez</u>, as reflected in <u>State v. Pham</u>, 17 F.L.W. D271 (Fla. 1st DCA, January 17, 1992); Simmons v. State, 590 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Pending before this Court, Case No. 75,287); Munoz v. State, 586 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Pending before this Court, Case No. 78,900). The Second District has consistently applied Cruz despite enactment of the Statute. Beattie v. State, 17 F.L.W. D657 (Fla. 2d DCA, March 6, 1992); Morales v. State, 17 F.L.W. D661 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Wilson v. State, 589 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Bowser v.

<u>State</u>, 555 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). The Fifth District has not addressed the Statute, but also continues to apply <u>Cruz</u>. <u>Smith</u> <u>v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 776 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); <u>State v. Purvis</u>, 560 So.2d 1296 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

As is reflected in the Third District's opinion in the instant case, however, <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D793, (Fla. 3rd DCA, March 24, 1992), the Third District, as well as the Fourth District, have conceded that <u>Hunter</u> reflects this Court's intention to uphold the dictates of <u>Cruz</u>, <u>see e.g. Ricardo v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); <u>Strickland v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). Respondent maintains that, despite this Court's failure to address Section 777.201, Fl.Stat. in its <u>Hunter</u> opinion, and despite Petitioner's argument that Section 777.201 abrogates <u>Cruz</u>, this Court correctly concluded that the judicially created <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test remains valid and viable in Florida, and should be construed to be coextensive with, or to invalidate, the legislatively enacted subjective entrapment statute at issue herein.

# A. CRUZ AND SECTION 777.201 CAN AND SHOULD COEXIST.

A careful examination of <u>Cruz</u> itself clearly supports Respondent's position that objective and subjective entrapment can coexist. After a review of the federal law, which focused primarily on subjective entrapment, or the prediposition of the defendant, the <u>Cruz</u> court stated:

"We agree with the Second District that the question of predisposition will always be a question of fact for the jury.

However, we also believe that the First District's concern for entrapment scenarios in which the innocent will succumb to temptation is well founded. To protect against such abuse, we turn to another aspect of entrapment." at 519.

The Court then set forth the foundation for the objective test it was to enunciate, again looking to federal law, as follows:

"The entrapment defense adopted in <u>Sorrells</u>, focusing on the predisposition of the defendant, is termed the subjective view of entrapment. However, beginning with Justice Roberts' concurrance in <u>Sorrells</u>, a minority of the United States Supreme Court has favored what is termed the objective view. This view was well expressed by Justice Frankfurter, in <u>Sherman v. United States</u>:

The crucial question, not easy of answer, to which the court must direct itself is whether the police conduct revealed in the particular case falls below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power...

looks ...[A] test that to the character and predisposition of the defendant rather than the conduct of the police loses sight of the underlying reason for defense of entrapment. No matter what the the defendant's past record and present inclinations to criminality, or the depths to which he has sunk in the estimation of society, certain police conduct to ensnare him into further crime is not to be tolerated by an advanced society.....(further elaboration omitted) (emphasis supplied).

The subjective view recognizes that innocent, unpredisposed, persons will sometimes be ensnared by otherwise permissible police behavior. However, there are times when police resort to impermissible techniques. In those cases, the subjective view allows conviction of predisposed defendants. The objective view requires that all persons so ensnared be released." at 520 (emphasis supplied).

The <u>Cruz</u> Court went on to elaborate, in a footnote, on the justification for adopting an objective view, as follows:

"While the objective view parallels a due process analysis, it is not founded on constitutional principles. The justices of the United States Supreme Court who have favored the objective view have found that the court must 'protect itself and the government from such prostitution of the criminal law. The violation of the principles of justice by the entrapment of the unwary into crime should be dealt with by the court **no**  matter by whom or at what stage of the proceedings the facts are brought to its attention.' <u>Sorrells</u>, 287 U.S. at 457, 53 S.Ct. at 218...Justice Frankfurter also found that a judge's decision using the objective view would offer significant guidance for future official conduct, while a jury verdict offers no such guidance...(citation omitted)" at 520, fn.2. (emphasis supplied).

The Cruz Court then stated, in plain, unambiguous language that:

"We do not foresee a problem in providing two independent methods of protection in entrapment cases. The New Jersey Supreme Court has found that the two tests of entrapment can coexist.....(quotation omitted).....

We find, like the New Jersey court, that the subjective and objective entrapment doctrines can coexist. The subjective test is normally a jury question. The objective test is a matter of law for the trial court to decide.

The effect of a threshold objective test is to require the state to establish initially whether 'police conduct revealed in the particular case falls below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of government power.' (citation omitted). Once the state has established the validity of the police activity, the question remains whether 'the criminal design originates with the officials of the government, and they implant in the mind of an innocent person the disposition to commit the alleged offense and induce its commission in order that they may prosecute'. (citation This guestion is answered by deciding whether the omitted). defendant was predisposed, and is properly for the jury to In other words, the court must first decide whether decide. the police have cast their nets in permissible waters, and, if so, the jury must decide whether the particular defendant was one of the guilty the police may permissibly ensnare." at 521-522 (emphasis supplied).

The Court then went on to promulgate the now infamous <u>Cruz</u> twopronged objective test (see <u>Cruz</u> at 522), the first prong directed to police "virtue testing", the second prong addressing the problem of "inappropriate technique". However, the Court obviously felt the need to further explain its position, elaborating in footnote 4 as follows:

"We note that, under this threshhold test, considerations which normally might not be recognized under the subjective test may be cognizable...(citation and text omitted)...Under the threshhold test we adopt here, the strength of the inducement is certainly a significant factor, since there could be a 'substantial risk that such an offense will be committed by persons other than those who are ready to commit While such a factor is thus cognizable, it does not it'. always dictate a finding of entrapment as a matter of law, since, as the Third Circuit found in the context of its predisposition analysis, even substantial sums of money offered to city officials may be found to create no such substantial risk. Likewise, the relative 'benignity' of the favor asked of the officials in Jannotti.....(explanation omitted) was a question of fact for the jury in its determination of whether the defendants were predisposed, not a question of whether there was predisposition as a matter of Once such issues are addressed in the context of the law. threshhold test, the problems inherent in attempting to determine whether certain facts tend to show predisposition as a matter of law are resolved. (emphasis supplied)

Based on the above language and carefully thought out analysis of the court in Cruz, there can be no doubt that the court contemplated the harmonious coexistence of objective and subjective entrapment in Florida, each designed to protect against and prevent separate potential abuses of the criminal justice system. Despite Judge Schwartz's cryptic concurrence in Lewis, and the State's implicit, if not explicit agreement therewith, the court in <u>Cruz</u> fully contemplated the prospect that a defendant's likelihood or inclination to commit a crime can be outweighed an "advanced society's" intolerance of egregious police conduct designed to "ensnare him into further crime". Respondent submits that the construction utilized by the Fourth District in Ricardo v. State, 591 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) to reconcile <u>Cruz</u> with Section 777.201 is the correct analysis. The court held that there are two aspects of entrapment, "one tested objectively by the court, and the other subjectively by the trier of fact." The objective aspect is the "threshhold test" outlined in Cruz. As the court stated:

"If either prong of this test is violated, then there is entrapment as a matter of law and the entrapped individual is entitled to be discharged. Simply for the sake of completing the <u>Cruz</u> analysis, we point out that where neither prong of the objective test is violated, the defendant then may present his affirmative defense of entrapment to the jury or other trier of fact by alleging that he or she was not predisposed to commit the offense. See Sec.777.201(2), Fla.Stat.(1989). The test to be applied at this stage is a subjective one." at 1006.

Respondent submits that the legislation at issue must be reconciled as in <u>Ricardo</u> and as thoroughly contemplated by the court in <u>Cruz</u>, despite its predating the statute. Further, Respondent submits that, as <u>Cruz</u> "parallels" federal due process claims, and has been determined by this Court in <u>Hunter</u> to include due process considerations (discussed next), the statute at issue cannot be deemed to override <u>Cruz</u>.

# B. CRUZ AND FLORIDA'S DUE PROCESS CLAUSE.

Section 777.201(2), Fla. Stat. (1987) provides:

(1) A law enforcement officer...perpertrates an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as a direct result, causes another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.

(2) A person prosecuted for a crime shall be acquitted if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment. The issue of entrapment shall be tried by the trier of fact.

It is the last sentence of paragragh (2) that has caused the courts and Petitioner to conclude that the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test has been abolished by the legislature and replaced by solely a subjective entrapment defense. Note that subsection (1) of the statute recites the language of <u>Cruz</u> as one of the considerations in determining whether the second prong of the <u>objective</u> entrapment test has been met, specifically whether government agents induce of encourage another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by "employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than those who are ready to commit it". <u>Cruz</u> at 522.

Respondent submits that nothing in the plain words of the statute completely eliminates <u>objective</u> entrapment, nor does it distinguish between subjective and objective entrapment, although it mandates, through the use of the word "shall", that the issue be determined by the trier of fact. The statute thus seemingly eliminates all judicial authority to respond to an uncontroverted motion to dismiss, regardless of the egregious nature of the governmental conduct involved. Not only does this dictate abrogate the public policy, judicial integrity, and judicial economy considerations upon which the objective entrapment doctrine has evolved, it flies in the face of the state constitutional due process considerations upon which the objective test has been established to have been founded. Thus, Respondent submits that this defense cannnot be abolished by statute.

In <u>Hunter</u>, this court specifically held that "[b]y focusing on police conduct, this objective entrapment standard includes due process considerations." <u>Id</u>. at 322. Justice Kogan, concurring in part and dissenting in part (in which Justice Barkett concurred),

pointing out that the issue of police conduct meeting the <u>Cruz</u> objective standard is entirely one of **law**, elaborated on the court's holding as follows:

"The <u>Cruz</u> Court did not directly confront whether the objective test finds its origin in the Florida Constitution, although it did note that the **federal** advocates of the objective standard had not claimed a constitutional basis for their views. <u>Id.</u> at 520 n.2 (discussing opinions of federal justices favoring objective standard). The <u>Cruz</u> Court did, however, note that the objective entrapment defense involves issues that substantially overlap due process concerns. <u>Id.</u> at 519 n.1 (citing cases so holding).

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